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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
------- -------- ·-------------x 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

v. 

BERNARD L. MADOFF, 

Defendant. 

-------------------- ---------x 

Before: 

HON. DENN'Y CHIN, 

APPEARANCES 

LEV L. DASSIN 
United States Attorney for the 
Southern District of New York 

MARC 0. LITT 
LISA BARONI 

Assistant United States Attorneys 

DICKSTEIN SHAPIRO LLP 
Attorneys 'for Defendant 

BY: IRA LEE SORKIN 
DANIEL J. HORWITZ 
NICOLE P. DE BELLO 
MAURO M. WOLFE 

ALSO PRESENT: STEVEN GARFINKEL, FBI 
KEITH KELLY, FBI 

09 CR 213 {DC) 

New York, N.Y. 
March 12, 2009 
10:00 a.m. 

District Judge 

JULIA SCHULTE HANISH, USDOJ, FBI 
THEODORE V. CACIOPPI, FBI 
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( case called) 

MR. LITT: Marc Litt for the United States. With me 

at counsel table are Lisa Baroni, an Assistant U.S. Attorney, 

and four FBI agents: Steven Garfinkel, Keith Kelly, Julia 

Hanish, and Ted Cacioppi. Good morning, your Honor. 

2 

MR. SORKIN: Good morning, your Honor. On behalf of 

the defendant Bernard L. Madoff, the law firm of Dickstein 

Shapiro LLP. Mr. Madoff is sitting to my left. To my right is 

Daniel Horwitz. of my firm. To Mr. Madoff's left is Mauro Wolfe 

from my firm, and to Mr. Wolfe's left is Nicole De Bello from 

my firm. Good morning. 

THE COURT: Good morning. 

Mr. Sorkin, your client is still prepared to plead 

guilty today a~ we discussed on Tuesday? 

MR. SORKIN: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, if you would stand, please, 

and the deputy clerk will administer the oath. 

(Defendant sworn) 

MR. SORKIN: Your Honor, before you begin the 

allocution, we have provided the government and the court 

reporter with a copy of the allocution that Mr. Madoff will 

read, and we have a copy if the Court wishes to see it as well. 

THE COURT: Yes. Thank you. 

MR. SORKIN: May I hand it up? 

THE COURT: Yes. 
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This statement is intended to cover all 11 counts? 

MR. SORKIN: Yes, your Honor. After your Honor goes 

through, he will give a statement which we believe will cover 

all the elements. Thank you. 

3 

THE COURT:· Mr. Madoff, do you understand that you are 

now under ·oath and that J:E Y<?'ll i:lP,§l>lE=:J; J!lY q'llE=§1:.~QD§ falsely,____ 

your untrue answers may later be used against you in another 

prosecution for perjury or making false statements? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: Try to keep your voice up so that I can 

hear you, please. 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, your Honor. 

MR.- SORKIN: Can we get some water, your Honor? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. LITT: I would note that the defendant has not yet 

been arraigned on the information. 

THE COURT: All right. That's true. Technically, we 

did the first part of it. We never did the final part. Let me 

just ask the final question. 

Mr. Madoff, the other day you waived indictment and 

you consented to being charged by an information of the 

government, correct? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: And how do you now plead to the 

information, guilty or not guilty? 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. (212) 805-0300 

10-05286-smb    Doc 193-1    Filed 12/21/18    Entered 12/21/18 18:30:13    Exhibit 1   
 Pg 4 of 52



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

93CMMADP1 

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty. 

THE COURT: Before I accept the plea I will conduct 

the allocution. 

4 

Would you state your full name for the record, please. 

THE DEFENDANT: Bernard L. Madoff. 

___ T_HE COURT: On Tuesday you told me Y'?1:lt i:ige: i:i_P:<::! __ ___ _ _ 

educational background. We talked a little bit about your 

medical condition. Has your medical condition changed since 

Tuesday? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, it has not. 

THE COURT: In the past 24 hours, have you taken any 

drugs, medicine, or pills, or have you drunk any alcohol? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Is your mind clear today? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, it is. 

THE COURT: And are you feeling all right today under 

the circumstances? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am. 

THE COURT: Do either counsel have any doubt as to Mr. 

Madoff's competence to plead at this time? 

MR. LITT: The government does not. 

MR. SORKIN: No, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Now, Mr. Madoff, as I understand it, you 

wish to plead guilty today to all 11 counts of the information, 

is that correct? 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. (212) 805-0300 

10-05286-smb    Doc 193-1    Filed 12/21/18    Entered 12/21/18 18:30:13    Exhibit 1   
 Pg 5 of 52



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

5 

93CMMADP1 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, it is correct. 

THE COURT: Have you had a full opportunity to discuss 

your case with Mr. Sorkin and to discuss the consequences of 

pleading guilty? 

.THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have. 

THE COURT: You told lllE:: g:1:1: '1:'1::1E::~<:1,,~y th?:~ Y?l-:1: we!e 

satisfied with Mr. Sorkin and his representation of you. Are 

you still satisfied? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am. 

THE COURT: On the basis of Mr. Madoff's responses to 

my questions and my observations of his demeanor, I find that 

he is fully competent to enter an informed plea at this time. 

Now, Mr. Madoff, before I accept any plea from you I 

am going to ask you some additional questions that are intended 

to satisfy me that you wish to plead guilty because you are 

guilty and that you fully understand the consequences of your 

plea. If you do not understand any of my questions, please ask 

me or Mr. Sorkin to explain. 

I am going to describe to you certain rights that you 

have under .the Constitution and laws of the United States. You 

will be giving up these ·rights if you plead guilty, so please 

listen carefully. 

Under the Constitution and laws of the United States, 

you have a right to a speedy and public trial by a jury on the 

charges against you which are contained in the information. If 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. (212) 805-0300 

10-05286-smb    Doc 193-1    Filed 12/21/18    Entered 12/21/18 18:30:13    Exhibit 1   
 Pg 6 of 52



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

93CMMADP1 

there were a trial, you would be presumed innocent and the 

government would be required to prove your guilt by competent 

evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. You would not have to 

prove that you were innocent if you were to go to trial. 

6 

If there were a trial, you would have the right to be 

represented by �~�~� attorney. And if you could ~c::>'t:: _~J:f::r::i_:i:-d one, 

an attorney would be provided for you free of cost. 

If there were a trial, you would have a right to see 

and hear all the witnesses against you and your attorney could 

cross-examine them. You would have a right to have your 

attorney object to the government's evidence and to offer 

evidence on your own behalf if you so desired, and you would 

have the right to have subpoenas issued or other process used 

to compel witnesses to testify in your defense. 

If there were- a trial,_ you would have the right to 

testify if you wanted to, but no one could force you to testify 

if you did not want to. Furthermore, no inference or 

suggestion of guilt could be drawn if you chose not to testify 

at trial. 

Mr. Madoff, do you understand each and every one of 

these rights? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that by pleading guilty 

today you are giving up each and every one of these rights, you 

are waiving these rights, and you will have no trial? 
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THE DEFENDANT: I do. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that you have the right 

even now to refuse to plead guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes I I do. 

THE COURT: You do not have to enter a plea of guilty 

6 ............ ~f ye:)~ do not want to, for ~:riy El::\~.5lc:):rl: 

7 Do you understand that? 
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Now, did you receive a copy of the 

information? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have. 

THE COURT: And as we discussed on Tuesday and as we 

discussed a moment ago, do you understand that you have waived 

your right to be charged by an indictment, which is issued by a 

grand jury, and you have consented to being_ charged by the 

information which is issued by the prosecutor? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: And did you waive that right voluntarily 

and knowingly? 

THE DEFENDANT: Y~s. 

THE COURT: Now, I am going to review the counts with 

you. As we said, the information contains 11 counts. 

Count One charges securities fraud. 

Count Two charges investment adviser fraud. 

Count Three charges mail fraud. 
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Count Four charges wire fraud. 

Count Five charges international money laundering to 

promote fraud in the sale of securities. 

Count Six charges international money laundering to 

conceal the proceeds of fraud in the sale of securities. 

Count Seven <::l"lc:i:i::-ges I!'lc::>IlE:,Y )c:i1:1Il?:E:,J::"~Il9'. 

Count Eight charges making false statements. 

Count Nine charges perjury. 

Count Ten charges making a false filing with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission. 

And Count Eleven charges theft from an employee 

benefit plan. 

Do you understand that those are the charges against 

you? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: I'll ask the government to advise the 

defendant of the elements of the crimes. 

MR. LITT: Yes, your Honor. With respect to Count 

One, securities fraud --

THE COURT: Hold on one second. 

Mr. Madoff, you can be seated. Pour yourself some 

water. 

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you. 

MR. LITT: With respect to Count One, securities 

fraud,- in order to prove the crime of securities fraud, the 

8 
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government must establish each of the following three elements 

beyond a reasonable doubt: 

First, that in connection with the purchase or sale of 

a security, the defendant did any one or more of the following: 

(1) employed a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud or (2) 

made an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state 

a material fact which made what was said under the 

circumstances misleading; or (3) engaged in an act, practice, 

or course of business that operated or would operate as a fraud 

or deceit upon a purchaser or seller. 

Second, that the defendant acted knowingly, willfully, 

and with the intent to defraud; 

And, third, that the defendant knowingly used or 

c_aused to be used any means or instruments of transportation or 

communication in interstate commerce or the use of the mails in 

furtherance of the fraudulent conduct. 

With respect to investment adviser fraud, the 

government would have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt all 

four of the following elements: First, that the defendant was 

an investment adviser; second, that the defendant either (A) 

employed a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud clients and 

prospective clients; (B) engaged in a transaction, practice, or 

course of business which operated ·as a fraud or deceit upon 

those clients and prospective clients; or (C) engaged in an 

act, practice, and course of business that was fraudulent, 
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deceptive, and manipulative. 

Third, that the defendant devised or participated in 

such alleged device, scheme, or artifice to defraud or engaged 

in such alleged transaction, practice, or course of business, 

knowingly, willfully, and with intent to defraud. 

}\.nd, Jo1.1:r-t:l'l, that the defendant e:n1pJ9ye:ci s11g]:i cJ.J],e:ge:ci 

device, scheme, or artifice to defraud or engaged in such 

alleged transaction, practice, or course of business by use of 

the mails or other instrumentality of interstate commerce. 

In order to prove the crime of mail fraud, the 

government must establish beyond a reasonable doubt the 

following four elements: 

First, that at or about the time alleged in the 

indictment there was a scheme or artifice to defraud in order 

to obtain property or money by false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, or promises; 

Second, that the false or fraudulent statements and 

representations concerned material facts; 

Third, that the defendant knowingly and willfully 

devised or participated in the scheme or artifice to defraud 

with knowledge of its fraudulent nature and with specific 

intent to defraud; 

And, fourth, that the United States Mails were u~ed in 

furtherance of the scheme as specified in the information. 

In order to prove the crime of wire fraud the 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. (212) 805-0300 

10-05286-smb    Doc 193-1    Filed 12/21/18    Entered 12/21/18 18:30:13    Exhibit 1   
 Pg 11 of 52



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 · 

14-

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

93CMMADP1 

government must establish the following four ~ssential 

elements: 

11 

First, that at or about the time alle~ed in the 

information there was a scheme or artifice to defraud in order 

to obtain property or money by false and fraudulent pretenses, 

Second, that the false or fraudulent statements and 

representations concerned material facts; 

Third, that the defendant knowingly and willfully 

devised or participated in the scheme or artifice to defraud 

with knowledge of its fraudulent nature and with specific 

intent to defraud 

And, fourth, that interstate or foreign wire 

facilities were used in furtherance of the scheme to defraud as 

specified in the information. 

In order to prove the crime of unlawful transportation 

of funds or monetary instruments with the intent to promote the 

carrying on of specified unlawful activity, in violation of 

Section 1956(a) (2) (A), the government must establish beyond a 

reasonable doubt each of the following elements: 

First, that the defendant transported a monetary 

instrument or funds from a place in the United States to or 

through a place outside the United States, or to a place in the 

United States from or through a place outside the United 

States; 
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And, second, that the defendant did so with the intent 

to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity. 

-In order to prov~ the crime of unlawful transportation 

of funds or monetary instruments to conceal and disguise the 

proceeds of specified unlawful activity, the government must 

E!StclblislJ. beycmd cl rE!clSCH1clI)~E! clc:itilJt reaclJ. c:,:f 1:.he :f()llC:,¼1~119: 

First, that the defendant transported a monetary 

instrument or funds from a place in the United States to or 

through a place outside the United States, or to a place in the 

United States from or through a place outside the United 

States; 

And, second, that the defendant did so with the 

knowledge that the monetary instrument or funds involved 

represent the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity; 

And, third, that the defendant did so with knowledge 

that the transportation was designed in whole or in part to 

conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, or 

control of the proceeds of securities fraud, mail fraud, wire 

fraud, and theft from an employee benefit plan. 

,In order to prove the crime of engaging in monetary 

transactions in property derived from specified unlawful 

activity in violation of Section 1957, the government must 

establish the following beyond a reasonable doubt: 

First, that the defendant engaged or attempted to 

engage in a monetary transaction in or affecting interstate 
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commerce; 

Second, that the monetary transaction involved 

criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000; 

Third, that the property was derived from specified 

unlawful activity; in this case, from securities fraud, mail 

frat1cl, wi:r-E:: f:i:-.:1t1cl, or theft from a pens:LC)Il :beneft~ pl~ri; 

Fourth, that the defendant acted knowingly; that is, 

with knowledge that the transaction involved proceeds of a 

criminal offense; 

13 

And, fifth, that the transaction took place in the 

United States or that the defendant is a United States person. 

In order to prove the crime of making false statements 

to the SEC, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1001, the government must 

establish the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: 

First, that the defendant made a statement or 

representation; 

Second, that the statement or representation was 

material; 

Third, that the statement or representation was false, 

fictitious or fraudulent; 

Fourth, that the false, fictitious or fraudulent 

statement was made knowingly or willfully; 

And, fifth, that the statement or representation was 

made in a matter within the jurisdiction of the government of 

the United States. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. (212) 805-0300 

10-05286-smb    Doc 193-1    Filed 12/21/18    Entered 12/21/18 18:30:13    Exhibit 1   
 Pg 14 of 52



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

93CMMADP1 

To prove the crime of perjury the government must 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt each of the following: 

First, that the defendant took an oath to testify 

- truly before the Securities and ExchaRge Commission, _a body 

authorized by law to administer oaths; 

14 

Second, t:llc3.t tlle cl~f:~I1cla11.t rnacl~false statements as to 

matters about which the defendant testified under oath as set 

forth in the information; 

Third, that the matters as to which it is charged that 

the defendant made false statements were material to the issues 

under inquiry by the Securities and Exchange Commission; 

And, fourth, that such false statements were willfully 

made. 

To prove the offense of making a false filing with the 

SEC the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt each of 

the following: 

First, that the defendant was required to file an 

application, report, or document with the SEC under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulations 

thereunder; 

Second, that the application, report, or document 

filed with ·the SEC contained false or misleading statements; 

Third, that the false or misleading statements were 

material; 

And, fourth, that the defendant acted knowingly and 
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willfully. 

To prove the offense of theft from an employee pension 

benefit plan the government must prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt the following elements: 

First, that the defendant abstracted or converted to 

his own use or the use of others the monies, -tl.1:I:"1:9:1:l, l:lE:C:l1:~t1:tE:§, 

premiums, credits, property, or other assets of an employee 

welfare benefit plan; 

Second, that the funds abstracted or converted from 

excuse me, that the fund abstracted or converted from was an 

employee welfare benefit plan within the meaning of the 

statute; 

And, third, that the defendant acted knowingly and 

willfully. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

Mr. Madoff, would you rise again, please. · 

Mr. Madoff, do you understand that if you were to go 

to trial the government would have to prove all of those 

elements beyond a reasonable doubt? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: Now I am going to review with you the 

maximum possible penalties for the crimes in question. 

Count One charging securities fraud carries a.maximum 

sentence of 20 years I imprisonment, a maximum f.ine of the 

greatest of $5 million, or twice the gross gain or twice the 
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gross loss, a mandatory special assessment of $100, and a 

maximum term of supervised release of three years. 

In fact, each count carries a mandatory special 

assessment of $100, so I am not going to repeat that for each 

of the 11 counts. 

Count Two.c:llc1:r-ge::::iinvestment adviser fraud. It 

16 

carries a maximum sentence of five years1 imprisonment, a 

maximum fine of the greatest of $10,000, or twice the gross 

gain or twice the gross loss, and a maximum term of supervised 

release of three years. 

Count Three, the mail fraud count, charges a maximum 

sentence of 20 years' imprisonment, a maximum fine of the 

greatest of $250,000, or twice the gross gain or twice the 

gross loss, and a maximum term of supervised release of three 

years. 

In fact, all 11 counts carry the same maximum term of 

supervised release of three years,· so I won't repeat that 

either. 

I'm up to Count Four, the wire fraud count. That 

carries a maximum sentence of 20 years' imprisonment, a maximum 

fine of the greatest of $250,000, or twice the gross gain or 

twice the gross lo~s. 

Count Five, the international money laundering count, 

the first of those counts, carries a maximum sentence of 20 

years1 imprisonment, a maximum fine of the greatest of 
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$500,000, t_wice the value of the funds. involved, or twice the 

gross gain to any person or twice the pecuniary loss to any 

person other than yourself. 

17 

Count Six, the second international money laundering 

count, carries a maximum sentence of 20 years' imprisonment, a 

.... II1aximL1Ill f inE: ___ q:E tp,E:_ g:i:-E:c1tE:Elt q_:E ... $509,0 0 0 L q:i:- t: v1:Lc:e::. thE: y9,},t1e of 

the funds involved or twice the gross gain or twice the 

pecuniary loss. 

Count Seven, a money laundering count, charges a 

maximum sentence of ten years' imprisonment, a maximum fine of 

the greatest of $250,000, or twice the gross gain or twice the 

pecuniary loss. 

Count Eight, which charges making false statements, 

carries a maximum sentence of five years' imprisonment, a 

maximum fine of $250,000, or twice the gross gain or twice the 

pecuniary loss. 

Count Nine charges perjury. It carries a maximum 

sentence of five years' imprisonment, a maximum fine of the 

greatest of $250,000, or twice the gross gain or twice the 

pecuniary loss. 

Count Ten charges making a false filing with the SEC. 

It carries a maximum sentence of 20 years' imprisonment, a 

maximum fine of the greatest of $5 million, or twice the gross 

gain or twice the pecuniary loss. 

Finally, Count Eleven, which charges theft from an 
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employee benefit plan, carries a maximum sentence of five 

years' imprisonment, a maximum fine of the greatest of 

$250,000, or twice the gross gain or twice the pecuniary loss. 

Do you understand that those are the possible maximum 

sentences? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: Now 1 taking all the counts together, do 

you understand that the total maximum sentence of incarceration 

that you face is 150 years' imprisonment? 

THE DEFENDANT: I do. 

THE COURT: In addition, do you understand that as 

part of your sentence I can order restitution to any person or 

entity injured as a result of your criminal conduct? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

MR. LITT: Your Honor, I would just note that 

restitution is mandatory, not discretionary. 

THE COURT: I will order restitution if it's 

mandatory. 

You understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: I do. 

THE COURT: I mentioned supervised release. By that I 

mean that you would be subject to monitoring when you were 

released from prison under terms and conditions that could lead 

to reimprisonment without a jury trial if you were to violate 

them. And if you were to violate the terms of your supervised 
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release you could be sent back to prison for the entire term of 

your supervised release. 

Do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Are you a citizen of the United States? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am. 

THE COURT: Do. you understand that as a result of your 

guilty plea you may lose certain valuable civil rights, such as 

the right to vote, the right to hold public office, the right 

to serve on a jury, and the right to possess any kind of 

firearm? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. 

THE "COURT: Now, have you talked to Mr. Sorkin about 

the federal sentencing guidelines? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that the guidelines are 

now advisory only and that they are no longer mandatory? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Nonetheless, before I can sentence you I 

still have to determine what your sentencing range is under the 

guidelines. I can't do that until after the probation 

department prepares a presentence report and you, your lawyer, 

and the government have had a chance to review the report and 

to make any objections. 

Do you understand that? 
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: And even after I decide what your 

guideline range is, I still have the authority in appropriate 

circumstances to impose a sentence that is above or below the 

guideline range. 

_Do yoll understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: I do. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that parole has been 

abolished in the federal system and, thus, you would not be 

released from prison any ·earlier on parole? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

20 

THE COURT: Do you understand that if your attorneys 

or anyone else has attempted to predict what your sentence will 

be that the prediction could be wrong? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: And that is because no one, not your 

attorney, not the government1 can or should make any promises 

to you as to what your sentence will be as your sentence cannot 

be decided until after the presentence report is compieted, I 

have ruled on·any objections, and I have decided whether there 

is any basis to go above or below the guideline range. 

Do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Finally, do you understand that even if 

your sentence turns out to be different from what your attorney 
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or anyone else has told you it might be, or even if your 

sentence turns out to be different from what you expect, you 

will still be bound to your guilty plea and you will not be 

allowed to withdraw your plea of guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

21 

THE COURT: Do Y()ll 1.1:nderstand that l::)y p],~i:ic::l.i:ng_ guiJty . 

you may be giving up-or waiving certain aspects of your right 

to appeal? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: The government provided your lawyers with 

a letter, dated March 10, 2009, which we call a Pimentel 

letter? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Did you review that with your lawyers? 

THE DEFENDANT: I did. 

THE COURT: And that Pimentel letter explains that 

your guideline sentence is 150 years. 

Do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: I do. 

THE COURT: That I s the government 1·s calculation. 

That1 s the government's position and you and your lawyers will 

have the opportunity to comment on that. 

Do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: And do you understand also that this 
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calculation that's set forth in the government's letter is not 

binding on the Court? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Has anyone offered you any inducements or 

threatened you or forced you to plead guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Mr. Sorkin, do you know of any valid 

defense that would prevail at trial, or do you know any reason 

why your client should not be permitted to plead guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: I do not, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, tell me what you did. 

MR. SORKIN: Your Honor, may I make one, 

respectfully -- according to the Pimentel letter, we agree that 

while the maximum statutory penalty in terms of imprisonment is 

150 years, the guideline range -- and this can be found on page 

6 of the Pimentel letter is life imprisonment. The criminal 

history category I yields a sentencing range of life 

imprisonment. 

THE COURT: I understand. But the government goes on 

further to take the position that when a count does not permit 

life, -then you look at the statutory maximum. That's the 

government's position. 

MR. SORKIN: I just want to make sure Mr. Madoff 

understood that. Thank you, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, you understand that? 
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: Technically, the guideline range is life; 

but none of the counts in question carries a sentence that can 

go up to life. The top is 20 years. According to the 

government, in that circumstance then the guideline range is 

the maximum and the ge>vE=rnment'El position is that thE= guidelille_ 

range i"s 150 years. Again, I don't know whether Mr. Sorkin 

agrees or disagrees, but we will deal with that before 

sentencing. 

MR. SORKIN: Thank you, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, would you tell me what you 

did, please. 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor. 

Your Honor, for many years up until my arrest on 

.December 11, 2008, I operated a Ponzi scheme through the 

investment advisory side of my business, Bernard L. Madoff 

Securities LLC, which·was located here in Manhattan, New York, 

at 885 Third Avenue. I am actually grateful for this 

opportunity to publicly speak about my crimes, for which I am 

so deeply sorry and ashamed. As I engaged in my fraud, I knew 

what I was doing wrong, indeed criminal. When I began the 

Ponzi scheme I believed it would end shortly and I would be 

able to extricate myself and my clients from the scheme. 

However, this proved difficult, arid ultimately impossible, and 

as the years went by I realized that my arrest and this day 
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would inevitably come. I am painfully aware that I have deeply 

hurt many, many people, including the members of my family, my 

closest friends, business associates, and the thousands of 

clients who gave me their money. I cannot adequately express 

how sorry I am for what I have done. I am here today to accept 

responsibility for my crimes by pleading guilty and, with this 

plea allocution, explain the means by which I carried out and 

concealed my fraud. 

The essence of my scheme was that I represented to 

clients and prospective clients who wished to open investment 

advisory and individual trading accounts with me that I would 

invest their money in shares of common stock, options, and 

other securities of large well-known corporations, and upon 

request, would return to them their profits and principal. 

Those representations were false for many years. Up until I 

was arrested on December 11, 2008, I never invested these funds 

in the securities, as I had promised. Instead, those funds 

were deposited in a bank account at Chase Manhattan Bank. When 

clients wished to receive the profits they believed they had 

earned with me or to redeem their principal, I used the money 

in the Chase Manhattan bank account that belonged to them or 

other clients to pay the requested funds. The victims of my 

scheme included individuals, charitable organizations, trusts, 

pension funds, and hedge funds. Among other means, I obtained 

their funds through interstate wire transfers they sent from 
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financial institutions located outside New York State to the 

bank account of my investment advisory business, located in 

Manhattan, New York, and through mailings delivered by the 

United States Postal Service and private interstate carriers to 

my firm here in Manhattan. 

I want to emphasize t?day that while myinvestment 

advisory business, the vehicle of my wrongdoing, was part of my 

firm, Bernard L. Madoff Securities, the other businesses my 

firm engaged in, proprietary trading and market making, were 

legitimate, profitable, and successful in all respects. Those 

businesses were managed by my brother and two sons. 

To the best of my recollection, my fraud began in the 

early 1990s. At that time, the country was in a recession and 

this posed a problem for investments in the securities markets. 

Nevertheless, I had received investment commitments from 

certain institutional clients and understood that those 

clients, like all professional investors, expected to see their 

investments out-perform the market. While I never promised a 

specific rate of return to my client, I felt compelled to 

satisfy my clients' expectations, at any cost. I therefore 

claimed that I employed an investment strategy I had developed, 

called the split strike conversion strategy, to falsely give 

the appearance to clients that I had achieved the results I 

believed they expected. 

Through the split strike conversion strategy I 
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promised to clients and prospective clients that client funds 

would be invested in a basket of common stocks within the 

Standard & Poors 100 index, a collection of the 100 largest 

publicly-traded companies in terms of their market 

capitalization. I promised that I would select a basket of 

26 

stocks that wo~ld closely mimic the price movements of the 

Standard & Poors 100 index. I promised that I would 

opportunistically time those purchases and would be out of the 

market intermittently, investing client funds during these 

periods in United States Government-issued securities, such as 

United States Treasury bills. In addition, I promised that as 

part of the split strike conversion strategy, I would hedge the 

investments I made in the basket of common stocks by using 

client funds to buy and sell option contracts related to those 

stocks, thereby limiting potential client losses caused by 

unpredictable changes in stock prices. In fact, I never made 

those investments I promised clients, who believed they were 

invested with me in the split strike conversion strategy. 

To conceal my fraud, I misrepresented to clients, 

employees, and others that I purchased securities for clients 

in overseas markets. Indeed, when the United States Securities 

and Exchange Commission asked me to testify as part of an 

investigation they were conducting about my investment advisory 

business, I knowingly gave false testimony under oath to the 

staff of the SEC on May 19, 2006 that I executed trades of 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. (212) 805-0300 

10-05286-smb    Doc 193-1    Filed 12/21/18    Entered 12/21/18 18:30:13    Exhibit 1   
 Pg 27 of 52






















































